UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-28-2014

Ellmaker v. Tabor Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41846

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Plaintiff Marjorie Ellmaker appeals the district court's granting of Defendant Calvin Tabor's motion to dismiss and motion for summary judgment on all counts.

B. Course of the Proceedings

Marjorie initially filed this action on April 21, 2010 (R., Vol. I, pp. 5-17) and filed an Amended Complaint on May 25, 2010. (R., Vol. I, pp. 26-47). Tabor thereafter filed his Motion for Summary Judgment (R., Vol. I, pp. 55-57), Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing (R., Vol. I, pp. 58-60), and related memorandum and affidavit on June 7, 2013 (R., Vol. I, pp. 61-68). Following briefing by the parties and oral argument thereon held on October 24, 2013, the Court issued its Order Granting Defendant Tabor's Motion for Summary Judgment on December 27, 2013 and entered Judgment the same day. (R., Vol. II, p. 290-301). The Order is divided into a two-pronged ruling, with the first section finding that Marjorie does not have standing (R., Vol. II, pp. 293-295), and the second section finding that Tabor is entitled to summary judgment on all four counts asserted (R., Vol. II, pp. 295-298). On February 7, 2014, Marjorie filed her Appeal. (R., Vol. II, pp. 302-204).

C. Concise Statement of the Facts

1. Marjorie's Kinship, Friendship, and Assistance to Martha.

Sarah Martha Chitwood ("Martha") was a longtime resident of McCall, Idaho

who had been a former school teacher and who was well known and adored. (R., Vol. II, pp. 175, 258). She was born on the state of the s

Marjorie Lois Ellmaker ("Marjorie") is a resident of Notus, Idaho (R., Vol. I, p. 107), and a single woman (R., Vol. I, p. 5) who formerly worked in a bank and has sold real estate (R., Vol. II, p. 219). Marjorie's mother was the granddaughter of James Bessecker (R., Vol. II, pp. 246, 265), making Marjorie and Martha first cousins once removed. In addition to a blood relationship, Martha and Marjorie were friends (R., Vol. I, p. 5), and Marjorie was also Martha's helper (R., Vol. II, p. 258).

In 2003, when Martha was 85 years old, the two ladies engaged an elder law and estate-planning attorney, Steven Scanlin, to draft a Power of Attorney on behalf of Martha (naming Marjorie as Attorney in Fact) and to draft Martha's Will. (R., Vol. I, pp. 103-104, Vol. II, p. 258). The Power of Attorney gave Marjorie the power of an absolute owner over Martha's assets and liabilities, including the authority to purchase and sell real and personal property, sign written instruments, participate in legal proceedings, and nominated Marjorie as guardian of Martha's estate. (R., Vol. I, pp. 107-111). In her Will, after devising a few tangible items (and her cats) to several friends, Martha directs, "I give . . . all of the rest, residue, and remainder of my property, real, personal, and mixed . . . absolutely and forever to my friend, Marjorie J. Ellmaker." (R., Vol. I, p. 112).

Martha also named Marjorie as the Personal Representative for her estate. (R., Vol. I, p. 112).

When Martha passed away in 2007, Steven Scanlin drafted an Affidavit of Non-Probate of the Estate of Sarah Martha Chitwood, transferring real property located in McCall, ID to Marjorie, in accordance with the desires set out in Martha's Will. (R., Vol. I, pp. 104-105). Steven Scanlin subsequently drafted a second Affidavit of Non-Probate of Marjorie Ellmaker ("Non-Probate Affidavit"), transferring to Marjorie the interests formerly held by Martha in other personal property, including a promissory note ("the Note") on a \$150,000 loan to Calvin Tabor ("Tabor") and A1 Real Estate, LLC ("the LLC"). (R., Vol. I, pp. 104-105, 115-116, 120-121). Both affidavits were recorded at the Valley County Court House. (R., Vol. I, pp. 115, 120). Based on her attorney's advice and the recording of these affidavits, despite the absence of a probate court proceeding, Marjorie has openly claimed and possessed the real and personal property since the death of Martha. (R., Vol. I, p. 70).

2. Calvin Tabor Helps Martha And Marjorie And Becomes A Friend.

Two years before she died, in 2005, Martha wanted to sell real property in McCall, Idaho but did not want a McCall realtor involved, and Marjorie, who held Power of Attorney at that time and was helping Martha with the sale, tracked down someone she trusted to assist with the sale, Gary Vizzoso. (R., Vol. I, pp. 7, 28, Vol. II, pp. 138, 142-145). Gary Vizzoso referred the ladies to Calvin Tabor of Caldwell, Idaho. (R., Vol. I, pp. 6, 28).

Calvin Tabor ("Tabor"), owner of Tabor Construction (R., Vol. II, p. 212), and a member of the member-managed A1 Real Estate, LLC ("A1") (R., Vol. I, p. 6, Vol. II, p. 236) began to spend a lot of time with Martha and Marjorie, gaining the trust of the ladies and earning their friendship to the degree where he would later attend Martha's funeral. (R., Vol. I, p. 7, Vol. II, pp. 138, 216, 221). Upon meeting Martha and Marjorie, Tabor began to help them with the sale, including researching and identifying the value of the property, contacting and putting together a group of investors to purchase the property, and delivering the proposal to the ladies. (R., Vol. I, p. 19, Vol. II, p. 175).

During the period where Tabor helped Martha and Marjorie sell the McCall property, he informed them that he and an unnamed/unidentified business partner (Keith Turner), were in the business of purchasing and restoring homes for re-sale. (R., Vol. I, pp. 6, 7). Tabor also informed the Marjorie that he in fact *was* part of the group who would purchase and develop Martha's property. (R., Vol. II, p. 138). During closing of the McCall sale, Tabor asked Martha in Marjorie's presence if she would be willing to lend him and his partner some money for their business. (R., Vol. II, pp. 138, 259). Although Tabor protests to the contrary, Marjorie has alleged that neither she nor Martha understood the borrower to be a business entity, but rather Tabor and his partner. (R., Vol. II, p. 138). Because she trusted Tabor, Martha would agree to loan him the money. (R., Vol. II, p. 138).

3. Martha's \$150,000 Loan to Tabor.

At some point during the time when Tabor was working with Marjorie and

Martha, he had spoken with his partner and together they determined Tabor should ask for a \$227,000 loan from Martha, in order to continue buying and flipping houses. (R., Vol. II, pp. 214-215). As Tabor has acknowledged in deposition, \$227,000 is a substantial loan, and he made no initial attempt to obtain that loan from a bank because his business was a new company and the bank would have wanted to secure the loan with assets. (R., Vol. II, p. 217).

On May 4, 2005, six days before closing on the property, Martha, Marjorie, and Tabor signed an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate (R., Vol. II, pp. 157-163) which included and incorporated the terms of Addendum #1 Special Clauses ("the Addendum") (R., Vol. II, pp. 164-165). The Addendum provides that Martha will finance a portion of the property' sale, and that for \$227,000, Martha shall issue two promissory notes, one already paid and not at issue here for \$77,000 due May 1, 2007, and the ote at issue for \$150,000 at 6% interest due May 1, 2006. (R., Vol. II, p. 164). These paragraphs further require that both notes are to be secured by A1. (R., Vol. II, p. 164).

Five days later, on May 9, 2005, Tabor presented Martha with a typed document he had either prepared or obtained, titled "Promissory Note" ("the Note"). (R., Vol. II, pp. 166-167). Unlike the terms set forth in the Addendum, the Note offered no security for the Ioan. (R., Vol. II, pp. 164, 166). The Note lists the borrower as "A1 Real Estate LLC"), bears the initials "C.T." on each page, and at the end of the document is executed by "Calvin Tabor as member of A1 Real Estate." At this time, neither Martha and Marjorie, who were 87 and 72 years old respectively (R., Vol. I, p. 119, Vol. II, p. 218), had been in the business of loaning large sums of money, nor had either woman become familiar with limited liability companies (R., Vol. II, pp. 187-188). Until the lawsuit, Marjorie had never heard of limited liability companies. (R., Vol. II, pp. 187-188). Yet, despite his relationship with the ladies and his knowledge of their apparent trust in him, Tabor, knowing he signed the Note as a member and was borrowing the money only as an agent of the LLC, failed to discuss this essential fact. (R., Vol. II, p. 218).

On that same day, a Seller's Closing Statement was prepared and signed by Martha. (R., Vol. II, p. 252). The closing statement shows that Martha's property was sold for \$927,000, with a deposit of \$65,000, financing via two unsecured notes totaling \$227,000, and a balance due of \$626,118.44. (R., Vol. II, p. 252). Thus far, Tabor has not been able to satisfactorily account for the money lent from Martha. (R., Vol. I, p. 20, Vol. II, pp. 214-218). In his Answer, Tabor claimed that Martha's loan was invested in a real estate investment that went bad. (R., Vol. I, p. 20). In deposition, Tabor did not know if the LLC got actual money as a result of taking out the notes, but claimed that the intent behind asking for the loan was to procure operating capital with which to buy other properties. (R., Vol. II, p. 215). Further, Tabor could not explain the seller's closing statement and why it appeared as if the two notes were given as a portion of the purchase price. (R., Vol. II, p. 215). If the LLC had received actual money on these notes, Tabor has acknowledged that it should be reflected in a bank deposit statement; however, despite requests at deposition and during discovery, no bank statements for 2005 have been produced. (R., Vol. II, pp. 217-218).

The following April 2006, some interest was paid on the Note, and Tabor, realizing that neither he nor his business could repay the Note on the following month, told Marjorie they must renew; to which and Marjorie agreed and signed as Martha's attorney in fact. (R., Vol. I, pp. 8-9, Vol. II, p. 218). The Note's due date was extended by handwritten modification to May 1, 2007, a date that passed without further payment from Tabor or the LLC. (R., Vol. II, p. 260). But on June 6, 2007, Tabor again negotiated the defaulted Note (R., Vol. II, p. 220), and extended the Note's due date via a replacement promissory note until December 25, 2007. (R., Vol. II, p. 261).

After Martha's death, and the Note's second default, Marjorie hired Tabor to provide cleaning and repair for her home in Notus after it flooded in Spring 2008. (R., Vol. I, p. 10, Vol. II, p. 189). On numerous occasions at her home, Tabor reaffirmed that he owed the debt to Marjorie; but he later told her that his partner had told him not to repay, although he nonetheless he told her that he would pay her, but it might take time. (R., Vol. I, p. 10). During the several occasions when Marjorie met with Tabor and he reaffirmed the debt, Marjorie postponed bringing legal action because of his reassurances to repay. (R., Vol. II, p. 261).

By fall or early winter 2008, the Note remaining unpaid, Marjorie, attempting to mitigate the situation, asked Tabor if he would perform remodel work on the property she inherited from Martha in order to work off his debt. (R., Vol. I, p. 10). Tabor contacted either an architect or designer, began to get bids from sub-contractors, and spoke to a father-son team already working on the house about helping Tabor later on

during the remodel. (R., Vol. II, p. 222). In July 2009, Marjorie and Tabor had a meeting set up to discuss bids Tabor had received, but Tabor skipped the meeting and stopped communicating with Marjorie. (R., Vol. I, p. 11). Marjorie mailed demand letters to the defendants on September 20, 2009, November 5, 2009 (Tabor responded and denied the debt was in his name or personally guaranteed by him), and February 8, 2010. (R., Vol. I, p. 11).

A1 was administratively dissolved June 5, 2008 for failure to file an annual report. (R., Vol. II, pp. 220, 241, 261).

4. <u>Administrative Practices of A1 Real Estate, LLC, Tabor's</u> <u>Management Role and A1's Tax Records.</u>

A1 was formed March 19, 2004 by Keith Turner and Calvin Tabor as members. (R., Vol. II, p. 236), and it was in the business of buying and fixing up houses and land to resell for profit (R., Vol. II, p. 175). Prior to forming A1, in January 2001 Tabor had formed another limited liability company, Perks Company, LLC, which was administratively dissolved the month before A1 formed. (R., Vol. II, p. 223). Tabor organized another limited liability company, Central Park LLC (R., Vol. II, p. 227), signing and filing the paperwork on December 4, 2007. Additionally, Tabor has a separate business entity, MNT Incorporated, involving a plane in which he owns a onethird interest (R., Vol. II, p. 214) and a pilot who gives flying lessons, and this business appears to offer the limitations on liability provided by corporate structure. (R., Vol. II, p. 212). During his deposition, Tabor lacked recollection of his involvement with any limited liability company other than A1. (R., Vol. II, p. 212)

Tabor testified that when he and Turner created A1, he understood that the purpose of choosing that form of organization was the personal protection it would offer him. (R., Vol. II, p. 212). Tabor took the time to research limited liability companies and become educated about them. (R., Vol. II, p. 213). In deposition he agreed that it was probably true that when he selected the limited liability form for A1, one of his thoughts was to protect his own assets should the business fail. (R., Vol. II, p. 213). Despite his superior knowledge on the subject of limited liability companies, and despite being placed in a position of trust where he was helping another elderly lady sell her property, Tabor avoided any discussion with Martha or Marjorie concerning their familiarity or lack thereof regarding limited liability companies or the risk of making an unsecured loan to such (R. Vol. I, p. 19, Vol. II, pp. 259-260).

While Tabor managed the construction aspect for the LLC, Turner managed the finances (R., Vol. II, p. 176), bookwork and papers, got a real estate license, and did the research involved with buying and selling homes (R., Vol. II, p. 212). Turner filed the Secretary of State paperwork organizing the LLC (R., Vol. II, p. 212), engaged a CPA to file the LLC's tax returns (R., Vol. I, p. 176), and appears to have kept possession and control of at least some of the LLC's financial records (R., Vol. II, pp. 217-218). The record implies that aside from construction and remodel work, Tabor's only other activity for A1 was the negotiation and procurement of the loan from Martha, and negotiation for

its subsequent extensions – activities that appear to be out of character given the general division of labor in the enterprise. Tabor did not recall who appeared to represent the LLC at the closing of the McCall purchase, and his testimony suggests that while he handled the initial phase of offer and agreement for the loan, his involvement did not extend to the particulars of the transaction and what was actually exchanged between Martha and the LLC (R., Vol. II, pp. 215-217).

Tabor's lack knowledge or memory regarding the LLC's operations, transactions, solvency, and history is reflected throughout his testimony. (R., Vol. II, pp. 212-222). He could not recall whose idea it was to form the LLC as opposed to a partnership (R., Vol. II, p. 212), the first property purchase made by the LLC (R., Vol. II. p. 213), the specifics on any property purchased with the loan from Martha (R., Vol. II, p. 215), details of, or witnesses to, his discussions with Turner about borrowing the loan (R., Vol. II, p. 216), or the money or credit available to the LLC with which to buy houses (R., Vol. II, p. 219). He claimed to be unaware of the business situation prior to the LLC's first administrative dissolution in 2007 (R., Vol. II, p. 220), did not discuss preventative practices with his partner to avoid a subsequent administrative dissolution (R., Vol. II, p. 221), did not talk to his partner about, nor know how his partner chose, how to handle the LLC's creditors at the 2008 dissolution (R., Vol. II, p. 221).

Although these documents are not part of the record (despite counsel's attempts to initially procure as part of the discovery related documents and subsequently request at Tabor's deposition) it appears that A1 had a substantial amount of documents pertaining to its financial dealings, including time books, billing records and receipts (R., Vol. II, p. 212), bank statements going back to at least 2005 (R., Vol. II, p. 217), and the buyer's closing statement from the McCall purchase (R., Vol. II, p. 218). Additionally, the LLC has journal entries, general ledgers, and bank account transaction statements mentioned in the CPA Gregory Braun's October 2013 letter to Turner. (R., Vol. II, p. 255). Tabor has produced bank statements from 2006-2008, but none for 2005 (R., Vol. II, p. 217), and tax records for 2008 alone (R., Vol. II, pp. 202-210).

From the narrow picture presented in the financial documents produced by Tabor, it appears that the LLC did not always behave according to its traditionally recognized form, as it disregarded its corporate structure for federal tax purposes, electing instead to identify itself as, and be treated as, a domestic general partnership (R., Vol. II, pp. 203, 205, 207). Nor did all of the LLC's activities fall within the ordinary course of its home-flipping business, such as when it made a non-business loan to Jeff Gardner by borrowing on its business's line of credit (R., Vol. II, pp. 249, 281) when it was not in the business of loaning out money (R., Vol. II, p. 222).

The loan from the LLC to Jeff Gardner is recorded on a promissory note almost identical to the Note at issue here. (R., Vol. II, pp. 180-181). The terms of the loan require payment of the \$50,000 principal, plus a 10% fee, on or before July 5, 2007. (R., Vol. II, p. 180). It was drafted on June 5, 2007, and signed by Gardner on June 6, 2007, which, coincidentally, is the same day that Tabor signed the replacement note extending the due date on the loan until December 25, 2007. (R., Vol. II, pp. 168-169,

180-181). Although Tabor initially denied recollection of the LLC's loan to a third party and that third party's subsequent bankruptcy filing, he recovered a portion of his memory upon further questioning (that he went to the bankruptcy proceeding) at his April 2013 deposition (R., Vol. II, p. 222), and then fully recollected the details in his November 2013 Affidavit (R., Vol. II, pp. 176-177).

The \$50,000 June 6, 2007 loan to Gardner appears in the LLC's 2008 tax record. (R., Vol. II, p. 208). The record indicates that the loan was acquired on December 31, 2007, sold on December 31, 2008, and cost was \$58,432. (R., Vol. II, p. 208).

The 2008 tax records also show that the LLC made distributions to Tabor and Turner (R., Vol. II, pp. 205-206, 209-210), although Tabor's Affidavit and a letter from CPA Gregory Braun attempt to clarify that the distributions shown were actually how the company converted outstanding debts to paper "income". (R., Vol. II, pp. 182-183, 250). Tabor's Affidavit admits that the LLC did pay back its internal creditors (himself) a \$100,000 loan, in addition to disbursing payroll funds to Tabor. (R., Vol. II, p. 250).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the district court erred when determining that Marjorie Ellmaker lacks standing to sue on the unpaid note where Martha's will was never probated?

2. Whether the district court erred when granting Tabor's Motion for

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 15

Summary Judgment on all counts of the Complaint where Tabor's signature on the note indicates he was agent for A1 Real Estate?

3. Whether Marjorie should be awarded attorney fees, should she prevail, pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rule 41?

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Motion to Dismiss – In reviewing a trial court's order granting a motion to dismiss, this Court's standard of review is the same as its summary judgment standard. *Hagy v. State of Idaho*, 137 Idaho 618, 621 (Ct. App. 2002); *Rim View Trout Co. v. Idaho Dep't of Water Res.*, 119 Idaho 676, 677 (1991). The standard of review on appeal from an order granting summary judgment is the same standard that is used by the district court in ruling on the motion. *Gibson v. Ada County*, 142 Idaho 746, 751 (2006); *Baxter v. Craney*, 135 Idaho 166, 170 (2000).

Motion for Summary Judgment – Appeals from an order of summary judgment are reviewed de novo. *Curlee v. Kootenai Cnty. Fire & Rescue*, 148 Idaho 391, 394 (2008) (citations and internal quotations omitted). Under this standard, "disputed facts are construed in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are drawn in favor of the non-moving party." *Curlee*, 148 Idaho at 394. The issue is not whether the plaintiff will ultimately prevail, but whether the party is entitled to offer evidence to support the claims." *Taylor v. McNichols*, 149 Idaho 826, 832 (2010) (quoting *Losser v. Bradstreet*, 145 Idaho 670, 672-73 (2008).

The motion must be denied if the evidence is such that conflicting inferences may be drawn therefrom and it reasonable people might reach different conclusions. *Pro Indiviso v. Mid-Mile Holding*, 131 Idaho 741, 745 (1998); *Farmers National Bank v. Shirey*, 126 Idaho 63, 67-68 (1994).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Erred in Dismissing Marjorie Ellmaker's Complaint Because She Has A Legally Protectable Interest In The Note And Therefore Has Standing To Sue On Its Default.

Standing is a preliminary question to be determined by the Court before reaching the merits of the case. *Miles v. Idaho Power*, 116 Idaho 635, 637 (1989); *Young v. City of Ketchum*, 137 Idaho 102, 104 (2002). This Court has noted that the doctrine of standing is imprecise and difficult to apply. *Miles*, 116 Idaho at 641.

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