Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-25-2014

Ellmaker v. Tabor Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41846

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

ARGUMENT

I. ELLMAKER DOES NOT HAVE LEGAL AUTHORITY TO PURSUE THIS ACTION.

Ellmaker has no legal authority to pursue this action. Although she was listed as a "friend" and primary beneficiary in Martha's will, that will was never probated, nor were any intestate proceedings ever filed. Idaho Code provisions provide as follows:

§ 15-3-102. Necessity of order of probate of will

Except as provided in section 15-3-1201 of this code, to be effective to prove the transfer of any property or to nominate an executor, a will must be declared to be valid by an order of informal probate by the registrar, or an adjudication of probate by the court, except that a duly executed and unrevoked will which has not been probated may be admitted as evidence of a devise if (1) no court proceeding concerning the succession or administration of the estate has occurred, and (2) either the devisee or his successors and assigns possessed the property devised in accordance with the provisions of the will, or the property devised was not possessed or claimed by anyone by virtue of the decedent's title during the time period for testacy proceedings.

§ 15-3-108. Probate-Testacy and appointment proceedings-Ultimate time limit

No informal probate or appointment proceeding or formal testacy or appointment proceeding, other than a proceeding to probate a will previously probated at the testator's domicile and appointment proceedings relating to an estate in which there has been a prior appointment or proceedings under section 15-3-1201, Idaho Code, or section 15-3-1205, Idaho Code, may be commenced more than three (3) years after the decedent's death, except: (1) If a previous proceeding was dismissed because of doubt about the fact of the decedent's death, appropriate probate, appointment or testacy proceedings may be maintained at any time thereafter upon a finding that the decedent's death occurred prior to the initiation of the previous proceeding and the applicant or petitioner has not delayed unduly in initiating the subsequent proceeding; (2) Appropriate probate, appointment or testacy proceedings may be maintained in relation to the estate of an absent, disappeared or missing person for whose estate a conservator has been appointed, at any time within three (3) years after the conservator becomes able to establish the death of the protected person; and (3) A proceeding to contest an informally probated will and to secure appointment of the person with legal priority for appointment in the event the contest is successful, may be commenced within the later of twelve (12) months from the informal probate or three (3) years from the decedent's death. These limitations do not apply to proceedings to construe probated wills or determine heirs of an intestate or to proceedings under section 15-3-1201, Idaho Code, or section 15-3-1205, Idaho Code. In cases under subsection (1) or (2) of this section, the date on which a testacy or appointment proceeding is properly commenced shall be deemed to be the date of the decedent's death for purposes of other limitations provisions of this code which relate to the date of death.

The provisions of 15-3-102 above indicate that a court "may" admit a will as evidence of a devise under certain conditions. The use of the term "may" is permissive rather than mandatory. It indicates that such a determination is vested in the sound discretion of the court. The COMMENT TO OFFICIAL TEXT of Idaho's version of the Uniform Probate Code provides as follows:

"It is noted, also, that devisees who are able to claim under one of the exceptions to this section may not obtain probate of the will or administration of the estate to assist them in their efforts to obtain the estate in question. The exceptions are to a rule which bars admission of a will into evidence, rather than to the section barring late

probate and late appointment of a personal representative. Still the exceptions should serve to prevent two 'hard' cases which can be imagined readily. In one, a surviving spouse fails to seek probate of a will, giving her the entire estate of the decedent because she is informed or believes that all of her husband's property was held by them jointly, with right of survivorship. Later, it is discovered that she was mistaken as to the nature of her husband's title. The other case involves a devisee who sees no point to securing probate of a will in his favor because he is unaware of any estate. Subsequently, valuable rights of the decedent are discovered."

While the two exceptions noted are not necessarily exclusive, they do describe instances when a will should be admitted as evidence to prove a devise. In this case, Ellmaker has offered no explanation as to why the will was not probated. It cannot be determined if the will submitted is in fact the last will of Martha or that the will submitted has not been revoked or replaced by a more recent will. As a result, there is no evidence in the record that Ellmaker has any legal basis to assert ownership of the promissory note and a right to pursue a claim in her own name under that promissory note. The trial court was correct in concluding that it would not recognize the purposed devise to Ellmaker as proof that she now owns the promissory note. Ellmaker has no legal basis upon which to seek enforcement of the note.

II. THE PROMISSORY NOTE WAS CLEARLY BETWEEN A1 REAL ESTATE, LLC AND MARTHA.

The plain language of a contract, if unambiguous, is controlling. *Cont'l Nat'l Am. Group v. Allied Mut. Ins. Co.*, 95 Idaho 251, 253, 506 P.2d 478, 480 (1973). A court must look to the contract as a whole and give effect to every part thereof. *Wright v. Village of Wilder*, 63 Idaho 122, 125, 117 P.2d 1002, 1003 (1941). "For a contract term to be ambiguous, there must be at least two

different reasonable interpretations of the term, or it must be nonsensical." Swanson v. Beco Const. Co., 145 Idaho 59, 62, 175 P.3d 748, 751 (2007) (citing Armstrong v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho, 143 Idaho 135, 138, 139 P.3d 737, 740 (2006) and Purdy v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho, 138 Idaho 443, 446-47, 65 P.3d 184, 187-88 (2003)). "Parol evidence may be considered to aid a trial court in determining the intent of the drafter of a document if an ambiguity exists." In re Estate of Kirk, 127 Idaho 817, 824, 907 P.2d 794, 801 (1995) (citing Hall v. Hall, 116 Idaho 483, 484, 777 P.2d 255, 256 (1989)). Steel Farms, Inc. v. Croft & Reed, Inc., 154 Idaho 259, 297 P.3d 222, 229 (2012).

Where a written agreement is integrated, questions of the parties' intent regarding the subject matter of the agreement may only be resolved by reference to the agreement's language. *Valley Bank v. Christensen,* 119 Idaho 496, 498, 808 P.2d 415, 417 (1991). "[E]vidence of prior or contemporaneous oral agreements relating to the same subject matter is inadmissible to vary, contradict, or enlarge the terms of the written agreement." *Valley Bank,* 119 Idaho at 499, at 808. Parol evidence is inadmissible to vary the plain terms and conditions of a promissory note. *Craven v. Bos,* 38 Idaho 722, 225 P. 136, 137 (1924).

The Agreement for Sale of Real Property was entered into between Martha and Al Real Estate, LLC. Tabor was not a party to that agreement. Likewise, the Promissory Note which constituted partial payment for the property was issued by A1 Real Estate, LLC. The documents are unambiguous. Martha's closing statement clearly indicates the sale was from her to A1 Real Estate, LLC. It further indicates that the promissory note was unsecured. There is no evidence that Martha

was misled in any way. She voluntarily agreed to the sale and received substantial compensation from the sale of the property. Tabor is not a party to the promissory note.

III. THE DEBTS OF A1 REAL ESTATE, LLC ARE NOT DEBTS OF ITS MEMBERS OR MANAGERS

As to Tabor's liability for the debts of A1 Real Estate, the Idaho Code is clear:

The debts...of a limited liability company...[a]re solely the debts...of the company... and [d]o not become the debts...of a member or manager solely by reason of the member acting as a member or manager acting as a manager.

Idaho Code § 30-6-304(1). Furthermore,

The failure of a limited liability company to observe any particular formalities relating to the exercise of its powers or management of its activities is not a ground for imposing liability on the members or managers for the debts...of the company.

Id. at section (2).

IV. THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE PREVENTS ELLMAKER FROM ASSERTING THAT TABOR ORALLY AGREED AS AN INDIVIDUAL TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE NOTE.

Parol evidence prevents Ellmaker from claiming that the original agreement between Martha and A1 Real Estate, LLC was between Martha and Tabor, the individual. The case law on this point is unchanged since the 1920's. The promissory note is clear and unambiguous on its face and evidence of contrary oral agreements or negotiations that took place before or contemporaneously with the signing of the note are inadmissible.

In *Taylor v. Fluharty*, 35 Idaho 705, 208 P. 866, 867 (1922), the court noted that the intention of the parties was the most important rule of construction, and that:

[I]f from the whole instrument it can be collected that the true object and intent of it are to bind the principal, and not to bind the agent, courts should adopt that construction of it, however informally it may be expressed.

Id. at 868.

A year later, in *International Harvester Co. of America v. Beverland*, 37 Idaho 782, 219 P. 201, 202 (1923), Beverland, whose name appeared on a promissory note next to that of his alleged co-maker, tried to claim that contrary to how it appeared in the body of the note, he was actually signing as a witness to the note, not as a co-maker. Beverland tried to argue that there was an oral agreement prior to signing in which he agreed to witness the note. *Id.* Ultimately, the court rejected this argument on the grounds that nothing in the body of the note indicated Beverland was a witness. *Id.*

The court emphasized that:

When a contract is reduced to writing and signed, it constitutes the final agreement of the parties as to its subject-matter, and prior or contemporaneous oral agreements or statements, varying its terms, are not admissible.

*Id.*It further clarified its holding in *Fluharty* by stating:

In determining whether or not one who has signed a written instrument may show by parol evidence that he signed it as an officer of a corporation, and not in his individual capacity, this court has held that he may do so **only when some ambiguity appears in the body of the instrument or in the signature.** (emphasis added)

Id.

Ultimately, Ellmaker has tried to argue that she and Martha were under the impression that they were loaning money to Tabor as an individual. However, the borrower listed on the body of the note is A1 Real Estate and Tabor signed each note as "Calvin Tabor as member of A1 Real Estate." Nothing in the body of the instrument or the signature gives rise to an ambiguity that would admit parol evidence of Martha and Ellmaker's contrary understanding prior to signing the note.

V. TABOR NEVER GUARANTEED THE LLC'S PROMISSORY NOTE SUBSEQUENT TO SIGNING IT, NOR IS THERE ANY CONSIDERATION FOR SUCH A NEW AGREEMENT.

Idaho Code § 9-505 requires that a promise to answer for the debt, default, or miscarriage of another must be in writing. Ellmaker argues that later Tabor orally agreed to personally guarantee the LLC's loan or to become the principal debtor on the LLC's loan. The case law is clear that parties must allege one or the other of these two exceptions. One cannot argue that a promisor has become the guarantor *and* the principal debtor. *Mickelsen Construction, Inc. v. Horrocks*, 154 Idaho 396, 299 P. 3d 203, 211 (2013).

While common law contract principles state that, "any gain to the promisor, or loss to the promisee, however trifling, ought to be sufficient consideration to support an express promise," nevertheless, Idaho Code § 9-506 has changed the common law. *Id.* at 210.

Thus, promises to answer for the obligations of another do not need to be evidenced by a writing if the creditor "parts with value... in consideration of the obligations in respect to which the promise is made, in terms or under circumstances such as to render the party making the promise the

principal debtor..." or "where the promise, being for an antecedent obligation of another, is made upon consideration that the party receiving it cancels the antecedent obligation, accepting the new promise as a substitute therefore..." or "upon a consideration beneficial to the promisor..." Idaho Code § 9-506(2)-(3).

There is no consideration for Tabor guaranteeing the loan nor is there a guarantee in writing as required by the Statute of Frauds.

VI. A1 REAL ESTATE, LLC HAS NEVER BEEN DISSOLVED.

Plaintiff argues that since A1 Real Estate, LLC has been dissolved on administrative grounds that this somehow makes the LLC's limited liability disappear. This assertion is false and misleading. Idaho Code § 30-6-705(1)(a) provides the grounds for an administrative dissolution:

The secretary of state may administratively dissolve a limited liability company if... [t]he limited liability company does not deliver its annual report to the secretary of state by the date on which it is due.

A1 Real Estate, LLC never filed Articles of Dissolution with the Secretary of State. Thus, Idaho Code § 30-6-705(4) would apply:

A limited liability company administratively dissolved continues its legal existence but may not carry on any business except that necessary to wind up and liquidate its business and affairs...

However, the code also addresses the effects of an administrative dissolution. If the LLC is able to show that they have eliminated the grounds on which the administrative dissolution was based and the secretary of state determines that the statutory requirements are met, then "the

secretary of state shall prepare a certificate of reinstatement that states this determination [and] file the original of the certificate of reinstatement." Idaho Code § 30-6-706(1)-(2). Such a reinstatement "relates back to and takes effect as of the effective date of the administrative dissolution and the limited liability company may resume its activities as if the dissolution had not occurred." *Id.* at subsection (3). The LLC has ten years in which to apply for reinstatement. *Id.* at subsection (1).

A1 Real Estate, LLC is insolvent and incapable of paying its creditors and winding up. Also it is under no obligation to wind up the LLC at this time. The LLC could be reinstated but for what purpose? There are no assets to distribute for dissolution.

VII. ELLMAKER'S CLAIM THAT TABOR WAS UNJUSTLY ENRICHED IS TIME BARRED AND GROUNDLESS.

Idaho Code § 30-6-406, Liability for Improper Distributions, provides that a member or manager of an LLC is personally liable to the company for the payment of a distribution that violates Idaho Code § 30-6-406 but such an action is barred if not commenced within two (2) years after the distribution. Idaho Code § 30-6-406(5).

Ellmaker's counsel submitted an affidavit in November, 2013 alleging that improper distributions were made during 2007 and 2008. Ellmaker had filed an amended complaint on May 20, 2011 alleging unjust enrichment more than two (2) years after 2008.

Idaho Code § 30-6-405, Limitations on Distribution, provides that certain distributions cannot be made. However, the term "distribution" does not include amounts constituting reasonable compensation for present and past services. Idaho Code § 30-6-405(7).

Tabor remains unpaid for much of the labor and services he provided to A1 Real Estate, LLC due to lack of profits. (R., Vol. 2 p 250)

CONCLUSION

A1 Real Estate, LLC suffered financial reverses when the real estate market crashed. The properties owned by the company dropped in value far below the mortgages on them. The properties were foreclosed or taken back by creditors. Tabor is also owed money by A1 Real Estate. It is unfortunate for all concerned, but A1 Real Estate is insolvent and there is nothing for unsecured creditors such as Martha and Tabor.

Ellmaker has no cause of action against Tabor and the trial court properly dismissed her claims.